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shaundrenika Robrinzine ("plaintiff), by and tluough her attorneys, on behalf of herself and

the classes set forth below, brings the following class Action complaint againsr Big Lots Stores,

Inc. ('Defendant').

INTRODUCTION

l. This consumer class action is brought under the Fair Credit Reporting Act

('FCRA) against a company who routinery and systemaricaly viorates the FCRA,s basic

protections by failing to provide required disclosures or to obtain written authorization prior to

procuring background reports on applicants and employees.

2' As Defendant's practices were routine and systematic, plaintiffasserts craims for

damages on behalf of herself and two classes of sirnilarly situated individuals on whom

Defendant caused a consumer report to be procured without first providing required disclosures

or obtaining written authorization.

J.

County).

THE PARTIES

Plaintiff shaundrenika Robrinzine is an adult resident of chicago, I inois (cook



4. Defendant Big Lots stores, Inc. is a corporation operating Big Lots store locations

throughout the United States, including in this County. Defendant is incorporaled and

headquartered in Ohio.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs claims pursuant to l5 U.S.C. $ l68lp

which allows claims under the FCRA to be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction.

6. This court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs claims and personal jurisdiction over

Defendant pursumt to the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure because Defendant does business

within this state, lransacts business within this state, employed individuals within this state, and

the events or omissions giving rise to this claim occurred in this state'

T.VenueisproperinthisCourtpursuanttoT35ILCS5/2.l0lbecausePlaintiff

applied to work for Defendant in this County, and the claims arise from this transaction'

S.VenueisfurtherproperinthisDivisionpursuanttocircuitCourtofCookCounty

General Order No. I .2, 2. I (b) because this is a class action'

9. Enacted in 1970, the FCRA's passage was driven in part by two related concems:

First, that consumer reports were playing a centlal role in people's lives al crucial moments' such

aswhentheyappliedforajoborcredit,andwhentheyappliedforhousing'second'despite

their importance, consumer reports were unregulated and had widespread errors and

inaccuracies.

10. While recognizing that consumer reports play an impo(ant role in the economy'

congess wanted consumer reports to be "fair and equirable to the consumer" and to ensure "the

confidentiality, accuracy, relevancy, and proper utilization" of consumer reports. 15 U'S'C' $

1681.



ll. Congress was particularly concerned about the use of background reports in the

employment context, and therelore defined the term "consumer reports" 1o explicitly include

backgound reports procured for employmenl purposes. See l5 U.S.C. $ 1681a(dXlXB).

12. Thmugh the FCRA, Congress required employers to, before procuring a

consumer report, obtain the written authorization of the subject of the report See 15 U.S.C. $

168rb(bx2xAXiD.

13. The written authorization provision of the FCRA is critical to ensuring consumer

privacy.

14. Through the FCRA, Congess also required employers disclose that a consumer

report may be obtained for employment purposes before procuring the report. 15 U.S.C. $

l68lb(bx2xAXD.

15. Specifically, Congress made it unlawful for an employer or prospective employer

tO 
..procure, or cause a consumer report to be procured, for employment purposes with respect to

any consumer, unless ...a clear and conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing to the

consumer at any time before the report is procured or caused 1o be procured, in a documenl lhal

consisls solely of the disclosure, lhal a consumer reporl may be obtained for employment

purposes." 15 U.S.C. $ l68lb(bX2XAXi) (emphasis added). This requirement is frequently

refened to as the "stand-alone disclosure requirement."

16. Many other provisions of the FCRA are also notice provisions. See 15 U.S.C. $

l68lb(bx3xA) (pre-adverse employment action notice requirement); $ 1681b(4)(B) (notification

ol national security investigation); $ 168lc(h) (norification of address discrepancy); $ 1681d(a)

(disclosure of investigative report); $ l68lg (full file disclosure to consumers); $ 1681k(a)(l)

(disclosure regarding the use of public record information); $ 1681h (form and conditions of

disclosure); $ l68lm(a) (notice ofadverse action).



17. Like the other notice provisions in the FCRA, the stand-alone disclosure provision

puts consumers on notice that a report about them may be prepared. This knowledge enables

consumers to exercise a variety of other substantive rights conferred by the statule, many of

which work to ensue accuracy, confidentiality, and faimess. 15 U.S.C. $ 1681c(a) (limiting

temporal scope of information that can be reported); $ l68le(b) (mandating that consumer

reporting agencies employ procedures to ensure "maximum possible accuracy" in reports); $

1681k (requiring consumer reporting agencies that report public record information to employers

to either provide notice to the consumer that information is being reported or have "strict

procedures" to ensure that information is "complete and up to date"); $ 1681i (requiring that

consumer reporting agencies investigate any disputed information); $ 16819 (requiring that

consumer reporting agencies provide a complete copy ofthe consumer's file to the consumer).

18, Without a clear notice that a consumer report is going to b€ procured on them, and

without requiring them to provide wriften authorization, applicants are hindered in their abiliry to

preserve their privacy, and to correct elrors or other problems with the reports'

19. As discussed below, Defendant routinely violated the FCRA, and consumers'

rights, by failing to provide the required stand-alone disclosure before procuring consumer

reports for employment purposes and by failing to obtain written authorization'

ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO PLAII{TIFF

20. On or around March 5, 2014, Plaintiff applied to work as an overnight stocker at

Defendant's Homewood, IL location. (Ex. l.)

21. Plaintiff completed Defendant's formjob application, which did not authorize the

procuremenl ofa consumer report (i.e., the running ofa background check). Rather, it merely

stated:



(rd.)

I understand that Big Lots may contact the past employers and,/or personal
references I have provided in order to verifo my past employment and work
record. I authorize all past employers, educational inslitutions, government
agencies and/or personal references to release any and all information conceming
my past employment work history, performance, and personal character. I hereby
release all such employers, personal references, and Big Lots from any and all
liability resulting from damages I may incur in the reference verificalion process.
I understand that my employment or continued employment is also contingent
upon my successfully completing both reference and background checks

22. Exhibil 1 is the only document Plaintiff received from Defendant which

referenced background checks in any way before a background check was run.

23. While the application mentioned background checks, it only purported to obtain

Plaintifls authorization for Defendant to conduct its own reference check and for the lisled

entities to provide information to Defendant. I1 did not authorize Defendant to procure a

consumer report from a third pany consumer reporting agency.

24. Throughout the two years preceding the filing of this Complaint, however,

Defendant has routinely procured consumer reports from Sterling Infosystems, Inc. ("Sterling")

on applicants.

25. Sterling is a consumer reporting agency because it sells background reports for

employment purposes.

26. On or around March 18, 2014, Defendant procured a consumer report on Plaintiff

from Sterling. (Ex. 2,)

27. However, Defendant did not obtain the required written authorization before

procuring a consumer report on Plaintiff.

28. Rather, on or around April l, 2014, after Defendant had already procured a

consumer report on Plaintiff, Defendant provided Plaintiff with a document titled, "Disclosure

and Authorization for Release of Consumer Information" atlegedly authorizing Defendant to



obtain a consumer report for employment purposes from Sterling. (Ex. 3.)

29. Defendanl only provided Plaintiff with Exhibit 3 after Defendant had already

procured the consumer report on Plaintiff.

30. Even if it had been provided before Defendant procured the consumer report, the

"Disclosure and Authorization" form Defendant provides to applicants violates the FCRA'S

stand-alone disclosure requirement because it contains extraneous information.

31. For example, over half of the form is comprised of state-specific slatements that

are not an authorization for Defendant 10 procure a consumer report and are also not disclosures

of the fact thal a report may be procured for employment purposes. Rather, these statemenls are

extraneous information that renders any disclosure required under the FCRA not "clear and

conspicuous" and also not a document consisting "solely" of the disclosure. Accordingly, the

inclusion of these statements on the Disclosure and Authorization violates the FCRA. (Ex. 3.)

32, As another example, the form purports to have the signer "authorize, without

reservation, any law enforcement agency, administrator, state or federal agency, institution,

school or university (public or private), information service bureau, employer, or insurance

company to fumish any and all background information requested by the CRA [Sterling] and/or

the Company itself." This blanlet authorization is not merely an authorization for Defendant to

procure a consumer report; rather it purports to authorize far more than just the procurement ofa

consumer report. Moreover, the blanket aulhorization is not a disclosure ofthe fact that a report

may be procured for employment purposes. Accordingly, the blanket authorization constitutes

extraneous information that renders any disclosure required under the FCRA not "clear and

conspicuous" and also not a document consisting "solely" of the disclosure. Consequently' the

inclusion of the blanket authorization on the Disclosure and Authorization violates the FCRA'

(Ex.3.)
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33. Further, Defendant's form application, which plaintiff compleled, contains
equallv broad authorizations and a statement that purports to release Defendant and any and a'entities referenced in the state

inquiries and directions. ,a". ,-"n' 
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33. Further, Defendanr's form application, which Plaintiff completed, contains

equally broad authorizations and a statement that purpo(s to release Defendant and any and all

entilies referenced in the statement from liability, as well as containing other form application

inquiries and directions. (Ex. l.) None ofthis is a mere authorization for Defendant to procure a

consumer report or a stand-alone disclosure of the fact that a report may be procured for

employment purposes. Accordingly, the application does not constitute the stand-alone

disclosure required under the FCRA.

34' The text of the FCM is pellucid and crear. Defendant is required to obtain

w tten authoriztion and provide a disclosure in a document consisting solely of the disclosure

before procuring consumer reports. Defendant does neither. Rather, Defendant provides an

authorization and disclosure only after it has procured the consumer report. This viorates the

FCM's plain language.

35' Moreover, the disclosure Defendant does provide is not compliant with the

FCM's plain language because it includes, inrer alia,extraneous information. Numerous courrs

have found the inclusion of this kind of infomrarion to violate the FCRA. see, e.g., Moore v.

Rite Aid Hdqrrs corp., No. GIV.A. r 3- l 5 l 5, 2015 u.s. Dist. LEXIS 69747, at *35 (E.D. pa.

May 29' 2015) ("[T]he text of rhe statute and the availabre agency guidance demonstrate[] that
the inclusion of information on the form apart from the disclosure and related authorization
violates g l68l b(bX2XA).'); Lengel v. HomeAdvisor,lnc., No. l5_2198_RDR, _ F. Supp. 3d

_,2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59017, at *21 (D. Kan. May 6, 2015) (..[t]t may be plausibly

asserted that the standarone disclosure provision was recklessry violated by the use of the
Release form because it did not consist solely of the disclosure that a consumer report may be
obtained for employment purposes.,'); Speer v. Whole Food Mkt. Grp., Inc.,No. g:14_CV_3035-

I



T-26TBM, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40462, at *7 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2015) (finding that plaintiff

had stated a claim wherein plaintiff alleged that "the inclusion of the waiver along with the

disclosure violated the FCRA"); Milbourne v. JRK Residential Am., LLC, _ F. Supp. 3d _,
No.3:12-cv-861,2015 U.S. Disl. LEXIS 29905, at *15 (8.D. Va. Mar. 10,2015) ("Thus,

judging by the text ofthe statute alone, inclusion of a waiver within the document containing the

disclosure would violate [the FCRA]."); Dunford v. American Databanh 1nc., No. C l3-03829,

_ F. Supp. 3d, _,2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS I I 1761, at *23 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 12, 2014) (finding

document that contained a liability release to "not consist solely of the disclosure because it

added a paragraph exonerating [the defendant]"); Avila v. NOW Health Grp., Inc., No. 14 C

1551,2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 99178, at *6 (N.D. Ill. July 17,2014) (finding inclusion of tiability

waivers to be "contrary to the express language of the FCRA, which requires a disclosure 'in a

document that consists solely ofthe disclosure"'); Singleton v. Domino's Pizza, LLC,No. l2-cv-

823,2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8626, at +33 (D. Md. Jan. 25,2012) ("[B]oth the statutory text and

FTC advisory opinions indicate that an employer violates the FCRA by including a tiability

release in a disclosure document."); Reardon v. Closetmaid Corp., No.2:-8-cv-01730,2013 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 169821, at *32 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 2, 2013) (finding disclosure with liability waiver to

be "facially contrary to the statute at hand, and all of the administrative guidance"); Jones v.

Halstead Mgmr. Co., LLC, _ F. Supp. 3d _, No. l4-CV-3125 VEC, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

12807, at +18 (S.D.N.Y. lan.27,2015) (finding disclosure to not stand-alone when it included

"information regarding time frames within which the applicant must challenge the accuracy of

any report; an acknowledgement that'all employment decisions are based on legitimate non-

discdminatory reasons;' and all sorts of state-specific disclosures"); Miller v. euest

Diagnosrics,No.2:14-cv-4278, _ F. Supp. 3d _, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18552, at +7 (W.D.

Mo. Jan. 28, 2015) (finding "inclusion of the state-mandated consumer report information,
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administrative sections, and release language in the disclosure violates 15 u.s.c. $

l68lb(b)(2|); see also E.E.O.C. v. Video Only, Inc., No. CIV. O6-t362-K1,2008 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 46094, at t28 (D. or. June I l, 2008) (granting summary judgment against the defendant-

employer who made disclosure "as part of is job application which is not a document consisting

solely of the disclosure.").

36. Similarly, the FTC has warned employers that'1he FCRA requires an emproyer

who plans to obtain consumer report for employment purposes - - . to obtain the consumer,s

written authorization before procuring the report." Lefier from Ronartr Isaac, Fed. Trade

Comm'n, to Michaer C. Brisch, vinson & Erkins (June l l, r99g) (emphasis added) (Ex.4).

37' Defendant knew thar it had an obligation to provide a stand-alone disclosure and

obtain the consumer's authorization before procuring a consumer report.

38' The FCRA requires that, prior to procuring consumer reports, employers must

certiry to the consumer reporting agency thar they wi compry with the FCRA,s stand-alone

disclosure and authorization requirements. See l5 U.S.C. g l63lb(bxl).

39' In accordance with their standard procedures, the consurner reporting agencies

from which Defendant acquired consumer reports during the two years preceding the filing of
this complaint, including Sterling, required Defendant ro certify that it wourd comply with the

stand-alone disclosure provisions of the FCRA.

40' Before procuring plaintiffs report, Defendant did, in fact, certify to Sterling and

other consumer reporting agencies that it would comply with the stand-alone discrosure and

authorization provisions of the FCM.

4l' In its contracr with Sterling, Defendant arso agreed rhat before obtaining a

consumer report Defendant would provide a disclosure in writing to the consumer that a
consumer report will be obtained for employment purposes, that such discloswe will be made in

9



a document consisting solely of the disclosure, and that Defendant would obtain the consumer's

written authorization to procure a consumer report..

42. Defendant did not procure PlaintifPs report in connection with any investigation

of suspected misconduct relating to employment, or compliance with federal, state, or local laws

and regulations, the rules ofa self-regulatory organization, or any preexisting wriflen policies of

the employer.

43- By systematically inserting extraneous information into Plaintiffs and other class

members' disclosures' and by systematically failing to obtain wriften aulhorization to procure

consumer reports, Defendant willfully violared l5 U.S.C. g l68l b(bX2XA).

44. Plaintiff experienced a concrele injury in the form of being deprived of a

disclosure to which she was statutorily entitled as a result of Defendant's railure to comply with

the FCRA's stand-alone disclosure requirement.

45' Plaintiff also experienced a concrete injury in the form of her privacy being

invaded by Defendant's procurement of a consumer report on her without her written

authorization.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

46' Plaintiff asserts a craim on behatfofthe "Disclosure class,,defined as follows:

All individuals on whom Defendant obtained a consumer report for employment
purposes.in lhe two years predaring the filing of this Complaint and continuiig
through the date the class list is prepared.

47- Plaintiffasserts a craim on beharfofthe "Authorizalion class', defined as follows:

All individuals on whom Defendant procured a consumer report for employment
purposes without obtaining the written authorization ofthe sudect orthareio.t inthe tlvo f.ears predating the filing of this Complaint and coniinuing tfrrorif, tn"
date the class list is prepared.

48' Numerosity: The classes are so numerous that joinder of all crass members is

l0



impracticable. Defendant employs thousands of workers, many of whom are members of the

classes.

49. commonality and predominance: common questions of law and fact exist as ro

all members of the classes and predominate over any questions solery affecting individuar

members of the classes.

50. Adequacy: plaintiff wilr fairly and adequately protecl the interests of the classes,

and has retained counsel experienced in complex class action litigation.

51. : Class

certification is appropriate under 735 ILCS 5/2-g0l because questions of law and fact common

to the classes predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the classes,

and because a class action is superior to other ava'able methods for the fair and efficienr

adjudication of this litigation. Defendant's conduct described in this compraint stems from

common and uniform policies and practices, resurting in common viorations of the FCRA.
Members ofthe classes do not have an interest in pursuing separate acdons against Defendant, as

the amount of each class member's individuar claim is sma' compared to the expense and

burden of individual prosecution, and plaintiff is unawiue ofany similar claims brought againsl
Defendant by any members of the crasses on an individual basis. class certification also wirl
obviate the need for undury dupticative ritigation that might resurt in inconsistent judgments

conceming Defendant's practices. Moreover, management orthis action as a class action w'r
not present any rikely difliculties. In the interests ofjustice and judiciar efficiency, it wourd be

desirabre to concentrate the litigation of alr class members,craims in a single forum.
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CLAJ}IS FOR RELIET'

COUNTI
Foilure to Provide a Stand-alone Disclosure

rs u.s.c. l6Elb(bx2xAxi)
(On BeheU of plaintiff and the Disclosure Class)

52- Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer reports on plaintiff and

Disclosure class members wirhout making the stand-alone disclosure required by the FCRA

.tee l5 U.S.C. 0 1681b(bx2).

53. Defendant acted willfully and in knowing or reckless disregard of its obligations

and the rights of Plaintiffand the other Disclosure Class members.

54. Defendant's willful conduct is reflected by, among other things, the fact that it

violated a clear statutory mandate set forth in 15 u.S.c. $ l6glb(bx2), and that Defendant

certified that it would comply with t5 U.S.C. $ l68lb(bx2).

55. Defendant's willful conduct is still further reflected by the following:

(a) The FCRA was enacted in 1970; Defendant has had over 40 years to

become compliant;

(b) Defendant's conduct is inconsistent with the FTC's longstanding

regulatory guidance, judicial interpretation, and the plain langlage of the

statute;

G) Defendant repeatedly and routinely uses the same unlawful documcnts

with all of its employees on whom it procured consumer reports or

otherwise failed to pmvide them with the required stand-alone discrosure;

(d) Despite the pellucid statutory text and there being a depth of guidance,

Defendant systematically procured consumer reports without first

disclosing in writing to the consumer in a document that consists solely of

t2



the disclosure, that a consumer report may be obtained for employment

purposes; and

(e) By adopting such a policy, Defendant voluntarily ran a risk of violating

the law substantially greater than the risk associated with a reading that

was merely careless.

56' Plaintiff and the Disclosure Class are entitled to statutory damages ofnot less than

$100 and not more than $1,000 for each and every one ofthese violations, pursuant to 15 u.s.c.

$ l68ln(a)(1)(A). Plaintiff and the Disclosure class members are also entitled to punitive

damages for these violations, pursumt to I 5 u.s.C. g l68ln(a)(2). plaintiff and the Disclosure

class members are further entitled to recover their costs and attomeys' fees, pursuanl to 15

U.S.C. $ l68ln(a)(3).

Authorization Class members without first obtaining the written authorization of the subject of

thereport. See 15 U.S.C. g l68lb(bX2)(AXii).

58. In fact, Defendant's standard practice is to provide only the application form prior

1o procuring a consumer report on applicants and then to provide its Disclosure and

Authorization form only after procuring the report.

59. Defendant acted willfully and in knowing or reckless disregard of its obligations

and the rights of Plaintiff and the other Authorization class members. Defendant's willful

conduct is reflected by, among other things, the fact that it violated a clear statutory mandale set

fonh in l5 u.s.c. g l68lb(bX2XAXii), and that Defendant certified that it would comply with

COTJNT II
Failare to Obtain Written Authorization Before Procurins Consumer Reoort

ls u.s.c. t68lb(bx2xAxii)
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and lhe Authorization Class)

57. Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer reports on plaintiff and

l3



l5 U.S.C. $ 168tb(bX2XA)(ii). Further:

(a) The FCRA was enacted in 1970; Defendant has had over 40 years to

become compliant;

(b) Defendant's conduct is inconsistent with the FTC,s longstanding

regulatory guidance, judicial interpretation, and the plain language of the

statute;

(c) Despite the pellucid statutory text and there being a depth of guidance,

Defendant systematically procured consumer reports for employment

purposes without first obtaining the consumer written authorizalion; and

(d) By adopting such a policy, Defendant voluntarily ran a risk of violating

the law substantially greater than the risk associated with a reading that

was merely careless.

60. Plaintiff and the Authorization Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less

than $100 and not more than $1,000 for each and every one of these violations, pursuant to t5

U.S.C. $ 1681n(a)(l)(A). Plaintiff and the Authorization Class members are also entitled ro

punitive damages for these violations, pursuant to 15 U.s.c. g l6sln(a)(2). plaintiff and the

Authorization class members are further entitled to recover their costs and attomeys, fees,

pursuant to l5 u.s.c. $ t 681n(a)(3).

PRAYERFORRELIEF

61. WHEREFORE, plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the crasses, prays for relief as

follows:

Dercrmining that this action may proceed as a class action under 735 ILCS 5/2_

801 ofthe ltlinois Code of Civil procedure;

Designating plaintiff as class Representative and designating praintifrs counsel

t4



c,

d.

as counsel for the classes;

Issuing proper notice 1o the class at Defendant's expense;

Declaring that Defendant violated the FCRA;

Declaring that Defendant acled willfully, in knowing or reckless disregard of

Plaintiffs righs and its obligations under the FCRA;

Awarding statutory damages as provided by the FCRA;

Awarding punitive damages as provided by the FCRA;

Awarding reasonable attomeys' fees and costs as provided by the FCRA;

Crranting all other available relief, in law and in equity, as this Coun may deem

appropriate and just.

DEMAND FORJURY TRIAL

Pursuant to 73 5 ILCS 5/2- I I 05 , Plaintiff and the classes demand a trial by j ury.

f.

c.

h.

i.

Date: July20,2015
OLS KASTER, PLLP

E. Michelle Drake, MN Bar No. 0387366i
Anna P. Prakash, MN Bar No. 0351362*
4600 IDS Center
80 Sourh Eighth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Telephone: 612-25 6-3200
Facsimile: 61 2-338 -487 I
jalbanese@nka.com

drake@nka.com
aprakash@nka.com

*pro hoc vice applications forthcoming

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTII'F
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